
































































































































































































































the specific source of phosphorus and nitrogen in the surface 

waters surrounding Stock Island cannot be identified. He did not 

opine as to the relative amounts of nutrients in surface waters 

that he believes are being contributed by the Existing Wastewater 

Facility or that will be contributed by the Expanded Wastewater 

Facility, as compared to other nutrient sources in the Safe 

Harbor area. 

226. He also acknowledged that a scientifically-valid water 

quality study would require more than a single day of sampling. 471 

227. Kenneth Weaver, environmental administrator for DEP's 

Standards Development Section, 481 credibly and persuasively 

testified, and the water quality data for nutrients and 

chlorophyll-a collected in the WBIDs surrounding Key West and 

Stock Island show, that the surface waters in these WBIDs meet 

the applicable NNCs. 491 Historical water quality data also show 

that since 2008, the surface waters in these WBIDs continuously 

have met the baseline concentrations on which the NNCs were 

established and adopted. 

228. Even with the increased volume of wastewater treated 

by the Expanded Wastewater Facility, implementation of the AWT 

standard by the facility's wastewater treatment trains will 

substantially reduce the amount of total nitrogen and total 

phosphorus discharged into ground water through the injection 

wells. Specifically, for total nitrogen, the concentration will 
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be reduced from 13.92 mg/L to 2.25 mg/L, and the total amount of 

nitrogen loading will be reduced from 58 to 15.9 pounds per day, 

representing a total net reduction of 72.4 percent in the 

discharge of total nitrogen. For total phosphorus, the 

concentration will be reduced from 3.47 mg/L to .75 mg/L, and the 

total amount of phosphorus loading will be reduced from 14.4 to 

5.3 pounds per day, representing a total net reduction of 

63.3 percent in the discharge of total phosphorus. 501 

229. Weaver addressed the effects of these projected 

nutrient discharge concentrations on the surface waters in 

WBIDs 8074 and 8079, which comprise the portions of the Lower 

Keys Region and Back Bay Region closest to the KWRU site. He 

opined that, because these regions are currently meeting the 

applicable NNCs for nitrogen and phosphorus, and because KWRU's 

implementation of AWT will result in substantial reduction of 

total nitrogen and phosphorus loading, the NNCs will continue to 

be met in these regions--even in a "worst-case" scenario that 

assumes all of the treated effluent from the Expanded Wastewater 

Facility is disposed of through the injection wells and reaches 

the surface. 

230. The persuasive evidence shows that the Project will 

not cause or contribute to violations of the applicable numeric 

nutrient criteria. 
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231. Thus, Petitioners failed to show that the Project will 

cause or contribute to violation of the applicable numeric 

nutrient criteria in rule 62-302.532(1) (g)1. and 3. 

Surface Water "Free-From" Standards 

232. Petitioners allege that the effluent contains iron 

and copper above detection limits, as well as personal care 

products and pharmaceuticals, and that these constituents 

violate rules 62-302.500(1) (a)5. and 62-302.530(61). Rule 62-

302.500(1) (a)5. requires all surface waters of the state to be 

free from domestic, industrial, agricultural, or other man­

induced non-thermal components of discharges which, alone or in 

combination with other components of discharges (whether thermal 

or non-thermal), are present in concentrations which are 

carcinogenic, mutagenic, or teratogenic to human beings or to 

significant, locally occurring wildlife or aquatic species, 

unless specific standards for such components are established by 

rule. Rule 62-302.530(61) effectively requires surface waters to 

be free from substances in concentrations which injure, are 

chronically toxic to, or produce adverse physiological or 

behavioral response in humans, animals, or plants. These rules 

collectively comprise the "free-from" standards for surface 

waters. 
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233. Petitioners presented no evidence to substantiate the 

allegation that the effluent from the Expanded Wastewater 

Facility will contain pharmaceuticals or personal care products. 

234. However, even assuming these constituents were present 

in the effluent, Petitioners did not present evidence showing 

that they are carcinogenic; mutagenic; or teratogenic to human 

beings or to significant, locally occurring wildlife or aquatic 

species; or that they are injurious or chronically toxic to, or 

produce adverse physiological or behavioral response, in humans, 

animals, or plants. 

235. Petitioners did not present evidence showing that the 

effluent contains copper and iron in quantities that violate any 

applicable surface water quality standards, including the surface 

water "free-from" standards. 

236. Paul testified, based on sampling he conducted at 

domestic wastewater outfalls discharging directly to surface 

waters, that effluent treated to AWT standards often contains 

pathogenic bacteria and viruses that constitute threats to human 

health. On this basis, he opined that even though the effluent 

from the Expanded Wastewater Facility is treated to AWT, it may 

contain pathogenic constituents that are harmful to human health. 

237. However, as previously discussed, the evidence shows 

that the effluent discharged through KWRU's injection wells will 

be substantially diluted by groundwater, and also by surface 
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waters to the extent it reaches surface waters at some unknown 

location. Accordingly, the results of Paul's pathogen studies 

cannot be extrapolated to conclude that KWRU's effluent also will 

contain pathogenic bacteria and viruses in such amounts as to 

constitute a threat to human health. 

238. Petitioners failed to show that the effluent disposed 

of in the injection wells will cause or contribute to violations 

of the surface water quality standards in rules 62-

302.500(1) (a}5. and 62-302.530(61). 

Dilution to Meet Surface Water Quality Standards 

239. Petitioners allege that KWRU is relying on dilution of 

the effluent in order to meet surface water quality standards 

without having been permitted for a mixing zone, in violation of 

rule 62-302. 500 ( 1) (c) . 511 This contention lacks merit. 

240. As discussed in detail above, the credible, persuasive 

evidence establishes that the effluent discharged through the 

injection wells will not violate water quality standards for and 

parameters, including for nutrients, and will not cause or 

contribute to the violation of water quality standards. 

241. The credible, persuasive evidence establishes that 

once injected, the effluent will horizontally migrate a 

considerable distance before it may migrate vertically to reach 

surface waters. 
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242. The parties generally agree that ground water and 

surface waters are "connected'' in the Florida Keys. To that 

point, although it appears likely that at some point the effluent 

will reach surface water, the evidence does not establish that is 

an absolute certainty. Nonetheless, even assuming the effluent 

would reach surface waters at some unknown location and time, the 

persuasive evidence shows that it would be so substantially 

diluted by the ground water that it would neither cause nor 

contribute to violations of surface water quality standards. 

243. Further, the persuasive evidence, consisting of 

Weaver's "worst case" analysis of nutrient loading from the 

effluent discharge, which assumed no dilution by ground water, 

establishes that even if the effluent--which will be treated to 

AWT standards--were discharged directly into surface waters, it 

would meet the applicable nutrient criteria. 

244. Finally, Petitioners' claim assumes that the effluent 

will be discharged into surface waters. However, as discussed 

above and in greater detail below, to the extent the effluent 

ultimately may be discharged to surface waters, such discharge 

would be indirect, so would not be subject to statutory and rule 

provisions requiring establishment of a mixing zone. 

245. For these reasons, Petitioners failed to prove that 

KWRU violated any applicable law or rule by not requesting and 
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obtaining a mixing zone for the discharge of the effluent through 

the injection wells. 

Class V Injection Wells in Monroe County 

246. Petitioners also allege that issuance of the Permit at 

Issue violates rule 62-528.630(7), which requires all Class v 

Group 3 domestic wastewater injection wells in Monroe County to 

provide reasonable assurance that operation of the well will not 

cause or contribute to a violation of surface waters standards as 

defined in chapter 62-302. 

247. As discussed above, the credible, persuasive evidence 

establishes that the operation of the wells as authorized under 

the Permit at Issue will not cause or contribute to violations of 

surface water quality standards codified in chapter 62-302. 

248. Accordingly, Petitioners failed to prove that the 

Permit at Issue should be denied on the basis that it violates 

rule 62-528.630(7). 

Antidegradation 

249. Petitioners contend that the Permit at Issue must be 

denied because KWRU failed to provide reasonable assurance that 

the injection of effluent will not violate the antidegradation 

requirements applicable to surface waters codified at rules 62-

4. 242, 62-302.300, 62-302.530 ( 4 7) (a), and 62-302.700 ( 1) . This 

contention lacks merit. 
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250. As more fully discussed below, the antidegradation 

requirements in these rules apply only to a direct discharge to 

surface waters, which is not present in this case. Here, the 

evidence clearly establishes that the injection wells do not 

directly discharge effluent into surface waters. It is 

undisputed that the effluent will be injected from the wells into 

Class III ground water, where it will migrate through the 

subsurface strata. Although it is likely that, due to a 

"connection" between ground water and surface waters, the 

effluent ultimately will reach surface waters at some unknown 

location or locations at some unknown time, this constitutes an 

indirect discharge, which is specifically excluded from the term 

"discharge of a pollutant." Fla. Admin. CodeR. 62-620.200(13). 

251. However, even if the antidegradation rules did apply 

to the discharge of the effluent through the injection wells, 

Petitioners failed to prove that the discharge would degrade 

surface waters. 

252. As discussed above, the credible, persuasive evidence 

establishes that the surface waters in the Florida Keys, 

including those in and around Stock Island and Key West, 

currently meet the narrative and/or nutrient criteria, as 

applicable, and that effluent discharged through the injection 

wells will be treated to AWT standards, substantially reducing 

the facility's total nutrient loading below current levels. 
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253. Thus, the credible, persuasive evidence established 

that, even in a "worst-case" scenario, which assumes no dilution 

of the effluent by ground or surface waters, the effluent still 

would not cause or contribute to a violation of the narrative or 

numeric nutrient criteria. As discussed above, the credible, 

persuasive evidence showed that, in fact, the effluent will be 

very substantially diluted by the ground water into which it is 

injected, and will be further diluted if and when it ultimately 

reaches surface waters. 

254. For these reasons, Petitioners failed to prove that 

KWRU did not provide reasonable assurance that the disposal of 

the effluent through the injection wells would not degrade 

surface waters, in violation of rules 62-4.242, 62-302.300, 62-

302.530(47) (a), and 62-302.700(1). 

D. Alleged Violation of Ground Water Standards 

255. Petitioners allege that KWRU did not provide 

reasonable assurance that the injection wells would not violate 

applicable ground water standards. 

256. Petitioners further allege that there is an 

underground drinking water source under Stock Island. In that 

case, more stringent ground water quality and injection well rule 

standards would apply to operation of the injection wells. 

257. Petitioners did not present any credible, persuasive 

evidence to support these allegations. 
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258. The persuasive evidence establishes that although 

there is a fresh water lens under Stock Island, it is not 

classified as an underground source of drinking water521 due to 

its substantial variability in horizontal and vertical extent, 

which renders the salinity levels highly variable. Thus, the 

ground water at Stock Island is classified as Class G-III ground 

water which is non-potable ground water having a total dissolved 

solids content of 10,000 mg/L or greater, or having a total 

dissolved solids content of 3,000 to 10,000 mg/L and having been 

determined to have no reasonable potential as a future source of 

drinking water or designated by rule as an exempted aquifer. 

259. Only the minimum criteria for ground water, known as 

the ''free-from" standards, apply to Class G-III ground water. 

Fla. Admin. CodeR. 62-520.430(1). These criteria require that 

at all times and in all places, ground water be free from 

discharge components in concentrations that are carcinogenic, 

teratogenic, mutagenic, or toxic to humans; acutely toxic within 

surface waters affected by ground water; pose a serious danger to 

the public health, safety, or welfare; create or constitute a 

nuisance; or impair the reasonable and beneficial use of adjacent 

waters. Fla. Admin. CodeR. 62-520.400. 

260. There is no evidentiary basis on which to infer that 

the effluent from Expanded Wastewater Facility that is disposed 

through the injection wells will violate the free-from standards 
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KWRU's many years of effluent monitoring at the Existing 

Wastewater Facility show that the effluent does not violate these 

standards. Further, David Rhodes, a Florida-licensed P.G. 

employed by DEP, credibly testified that a violation of the free­

from standards necessarily would entail the presence of toxic 

materials in KWRU's effluent and that there would be immediate 

and dramatic effects on the flora and fauna at the golf course, 

where reclaimed water is reused for irrigation. 

261. Since such effects never have occurred, it is 

reasonable to infer that the effluent from the Expanded 

Wastewater Facility will not violate the free-from standards. 531 

262. Additionally, as previously addressed, the credible, 

persuasive evidence demonstrates that no surface water quality 

violations will result from installation and operation of the 

injection wells as part of the Expanded Wastewater Facility. 

Accordingly, the reasonable and beneficial use of adjacent waters 

will not be impaired due as a result of the injection wells. 

263. Petitioners also claim that due to inadequate 

treatment by the Expanded Wastewater Facility, the effluent 

disposed in the injection wells will contain unacceptably high 

levels of bacteria and viruses. 

264. The persuasive evidence establishes that KWRU provides 

high-level disinfection prior to injecting the effluent or 

sending the reclaimed water for reuse at the golf course. 
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Historical monitoring data shows that KWRU's effluent complies 

with applicable microbial standards, and unrebutted evidence 

consisting of quality-related beach closure data for the Florida 

Keys, gathered as part of the Department of Health's Healthy 

Beaches monitoring program, indicates that no beach closings in 

the Florida Keys ever have been attributed to KWRU's Existing 

Wastewater Facility. 

265. Petitioners did not prove that KWRU failed to provide 

reasonable assurance that operation of the injection wells 

authorized as part of the Project will not result in violations 

of applicable ground water standards. 

266. To the contrary, KWRU provided reasonable assurance 

that the effluent from the Expanded Wastewater Facility disposed 

in the injection wells authorized as part of the Project will not 

violate any applicable ground water standards. 

E. Alleged Water Quality Violations Due to Reuse System 

267. Petitioners allege that KWRU did not provide 

reasonable assurance that the storage of up to 1 MGD of reclaimed 

water in the reuse system storage ponds on the Key West Golf Club 

golf course will not cause or contribute to a violation of 

surface water quality standards and ground water standards. 

268. Specifically, Petitioners posit that, because the 

ponds are unlined, reclaimed water from the Expanded Wastewater 

Facility will leach from the ponds into the ground water and 
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reach surface waters, violating surface water quality standards 

and ground water standards and negatively impacting human health 

through high levels of microbial pathogens, pharmaceuticals, and 

personal care products. 

269. Petitioners further allege that discharge of reclaimed 

water from the ponds into the ground water could mobilize 

constituents of concern from the Key West Landfill and a closed 

waste-to-energy facility, both of which are near the golf course, 

ultimately resulting in surface water quality standards and 

ground water violations. 

270. In support of these contentions, Petitioners presented 

the testimony of Scott Zednek, who testified that the reclaimed 

water, which is fresher than the surrounding ground water, may 

leach from the ponds into the ground water, and thereafter 

potentially may reach surface waters. According to Zednek, this 

leaching could occur because the ponds are unlined. 

271. Additionally, Zednek opined that, because there is a 

closed landfill near the golf course, the reclaimed water 

leaching from the reuse system ponds could mobilize and spread 

contaminants from the landfill. 

272. The persuasive evidence demonstrates that storage of 

the reclaimed water in the reuse system ponds will not result in 

violations of ground water standards or surface water quality 

standards. 
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273. Although the golf course ponds are unlined in the 

sense that a high-density polyethylene or impermeable clay liner 

has not been installed on the bottom and sides of the ponds, over 

the years, marl has formed on the bottom and sides of the ponds, 

creating an aquitard that substantially confines the reclaimed 

water to the ponds, rather than allowing it to readily leach into 

the ground water. 

274. Further, the reclaimed water generally is less saline 

than the ground water underlying the course, so tends to "float" 

on top of, rather than readily mixing with, the denser, more 

saline ground water. 

275. Additionally, the evidence shows that years of 

historical ground water monitoring data obtained through 

monitoring wells on the golf course near the reuse system ponds 

showed no ground water standards violations as a result of 

storing reclaimed water from KWRU in the ponds. 541 Because the 

amount of reclaimed water being sent to the reuse storage ponds 

is not being changed by the Project, and the nutrient levels in 

the reclaimed water are being through AWT, there is no factual 

basis from which to infer that storage of the reclaimed water in 

the pond will result in violations of ground water standards or 

surface water quality standards. 

276. The persuasive evidence also does not support Zednek's 

view that reclaimed water leaching into the ground water from the 
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storage ponds will mobilize pollutants under the nearby landfill. 

As discussed above, the persuasive evidence establishes that, due 

to the aquitard, there will be very little leaching of reclaimed 

water into the ground water, and even if such leaching did occur, 

there would be very little mixing of the reclaimed water with the 

more saline ground water. As such, there is no demonstrated 

factual basis on which to infer that reclaimed water will flow 

under, and mobilize and spread pollutants from, the landfill. 

277. Further, the evidence establishes that the predominant 

ground water flow direction under Stock Island is to the south-

southeast. Since the landfill is located north of the reuse 

system ponds, any reclaimed water that did enter ground water 

would flow south-southeast, away from the landfill. 

278. Zednek also opined that if the storage ponds 

overflowed, the reclaimed water could run off into surface 

waters, resulting in surface water quality violations. 

279. However, the evidence establishes that KWRU will only 

send as much reclaimed water to the reuse storage ponds as the 

Key West Golf Club requests, so any assertion that the ponds will 

overflow is speculative. Further, even if the ponds were to 

overflow, Petitioners did not show that the reclaimed water would 

flow into surface waters, or that it would violate surface water 

quality standards if it were to flow into surface waters. 
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280. Petitioners did not prove that KWRU failed to provide 

reasonable assurance that the storage of reclaimed water in the 

reuse system storage ponds at the Key West Golf Club will not 

violate any ground water standards. 

281. Stated another way, KWRU provided reasonable assurance 

that the storage of reclaimed water in the reuse system ponds at 

the Key West Golf Club golf course will not cause or contribute 

to violations of ground water standards or surface water quality 

standards. 

F. Applicability of AWT to Existing Wastewater Facility 

282. Commencing January 1, 2016, the two new treatment 

trains authorized by the Permit at Issue must meet the AWT 

standards. These treatment trains are authorized to treat 

wastewater to specified secondary standards through December 31, 

2015. 

283. Petitioners assert that the Permit at Issue must be 

denied because the two new treatment trains should be required to 

meet AWT standards immediately upon operation, and that allowing 

the new treatment trains to meet secondary standards through 

December 31, 2015, violates section 403.806(10) and rule 62-

620.620(4). 

284. Sections 403.086(10) (c) and {d) expressly impose the 

AWT standards on all new or expanded domestic wastewater 

87 



discharges after December 31, 2015. Accordingly, the Permit at 

Issue is completely consistent with the statute. 

285. 

620.602(4) 

Further, the Permit at Issue does not violate rule 62-

That rule requires a wastewater facility permit 

applicant to make certain specified demonstrations when a permit 

is renewed, revised, or reissued having a less stringent effluent 

limitation than contained in a previous permit. Although the 

Existing Permit states that the Existing Wastewater Facility has 

been modified to meet the AWT standards, it further states: 

"[t]he extended aeration process will be switched to the AWT 

nutrient removal system prior to January 1, 2016." The clear 

import of this statement is that the AWT standards are not 

required to be met until January 1, 2016, consistent with 

section 403.806(10). Because the Permit at Issue also requires 

the new treatment trains to meet the AWT standards commencing on 

January 1, 2016, the Permit at Issue does not impose a less 

stringent effluent limitation than that imposed by the Existing 

Permit; accordingly, KWRU is not required to make the so-called 

"anti-backsliding" demonstrations set forth in rule 62-

620.620(4) 

286. Furthermore, it is undisputed that the new treatment 

trains will not be constructed and operational before January 1, 

2016; thus, as a practical matter, the new treatment trains must 

meet the AWT standards immediately upon going into operation. 
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287. Thus, Petitioners have not shown that the Permit at 

Issue should be denied on the basis that it violates section 

403.806(10) and rule 62-620.620(4) 

VIII. Petitioners' Standing 

288. As noted above, Petitioner Halloran, resides in Key 

West, Florida. His residence fronts on the water and he owns a 

boat. Halloran and his family use and enjoy the waters around 

Key West for swimming, fishing, kayaking, and other in-water 

recreational uses, eat local-caught seafood, and engage in nature 

photography. Halloran also owns rental properties that front on 

the water, and he owns and rents out dock space for houseboat 

mooring. He is a member of Last Stand. 

289. Halloran has challenged the Permit at Issue because he 

is concerned that the increased discharge of effluent from the 

Project down the injection wells will degrade the waters around 

Key West where he and his family engage in in-water recreational 

uses. He also is concerned that the increased effluent 

discharge, particularly nutrients, will harm the seagrasses, 

coral reefs, and the benthic communities in the waters around Key 

West. 

290. Halloran read the initial petition prepared and filed 

in this proceeding, and he skimmed the Amended Petition 

specifically to determine the changes from the initial 

Petition. 551 He acknowledges that he does not completely recall 
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the entire contents of the initial petition or the Amended 

Petition. 

291. Petitioner Last Stand is a not-for-profit corporation 

incorporated under Florida law. Naja Girard D'Albissin, a member 

of the Board of Directors of Last Stand, appeared on behalf of 

Last Stand. 

292. D'Albissin testified that Last Stand currently has 

approximately 105 members. 

293. Last Stand's mission is to promote, preserve, and 

protect the quality of life in Key West and the Florida Keys, 

with particular emphasis on protecting the natural environment. 

Last Stand historically has engaged in environmental advocacy 

directed toward governmental entities and engaged in litigation 

opposing activities that its members believe would harm the 

natural environment. 

294. In July 2014, Last Stand's Board of Directors voted to 

challenge the Permit at Issue. 

295. Respondent DEP stipulated that 52 members of Last 

Stand spend time or reside in Monroe County, 50 members enjoy 

the waters and natural environment of the Florida Keys, and 

50 members believe that their use and enjoyment of the natural 

environment and economic interests in Monroe County will be 

adversely affected by the Project. 
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296. Last Stand tendered, for admission into evidence, 

affidavits of some of its members attesting to the substantial 

interests they contend will be injured by the Project. However, 

Last Stand had refused to allow Respondents to engage in 

discovery regarding these members' alleged substantial interests; 

accordingly, the undersigned did not allow these members to 

testify at the final hearing. 561 The affidavits were excluded 

from admission into evidence as unsupported hearsay. See 

§ 120.57(1) (c), Fla. Stat. 

IX. Entitlement to Permit at Issue 

297. KWRU met its burden under section 120.569(2) (p) to 

present a prima facie case demonstrating entitlement to the 

Permit at Issue by entering into evidence the applications and 

supporting materials for the Permit at Issue for the Project. 

Additionally, KWRU presented persuasive, competent, and 

substantial evidence beyond that necessary to meet its burden 

under section 120.569(2) (p) to demonstrate its entitlement to the 

Permit at Issue. 

298. Petitioners did not meet their burden of persuasion 

under section 120.569(2) (p) in this proceeding to demonstrate 

that the Project does not meet all applicable statutory and rule 

requirements. 
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299. Furthermore, on rebuttal, KWRU and DEP thoroughly 

addressed and rebutted the grounds that Petitioners allege 

justify denial of the Permit at Issue. 

300. The persuasive evidence demonstrates that the Project 

meets all applicable statutory and rule requirements. 

Accordingly, KWRU is entitled to issuance of the Permit at Issue. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

301. The Division of Administrative Hearings has 

jurisdiction over the parties to, and the subject matter of, this 

proceeding pursuant to sections 120.569 and 120.57(1). 

I. Petitioners' Standing 

302. Petitioners bear the burden of demonstrating that they 

have standing to initiate and maintain this proceeding. Palm 

Beach Cnty. Envtl. Coal. v. Dep't of Envtl. Prot., 14 So. 3d 1076, 

1078 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009); Agrico Chern. Co. v. Dep't of Envtl. 

Reg., 406 So. 2d 478, 482 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). 

303. In Agrico, the court established a two-prong test for 

standing in administrative proceedings, holding: 

We believe that before one can be considered 
to have a substantial interest in the outcome 
of the proceeding he must show 1) that he will 
suffer injury in fact which is of sufficient 
immediacy to entitle him to a section 120.57 
hearing, and 2) that his substantial injury is 
of a type or nature which the proceeding is 
designed to protect. The first aspect of the 
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test deals with the degree of injury. The 
second deals with the nature of the injury. 

Id. at 482. 

304. Courts subsequently have refined the Agrico standard, 

clarifying that standing to initiate an administrative proceeding 

is not dependent on proving that the proposed agency action would 

violate the law applicable to the proceeding. Thus, it is not 

necessary that the person prevail on the merits in an 

administrative proceeding under section 120.57(1) to have standing 

as a party to initiate and maintain that proceeding. 

Peace River/Manasota Reg'l Water Supply Auth. v. IMC Phosphates, 

18 So. 3d 1079, 1084 (Fla. 2d DCA 2009). It is sufficient for the 

person challenging the proposed agency action to present evidence 

aimed at showing that he or she reasonably could be injured by the 

proposed activity. Id.; see Angelo's Aggregate Mat., Ltd. v. 

Dep't of Envt'l. Prot., Case Nos. 09-1543, 09-1544, 09-1545, 09-

1546 (Fla. DOAH June 28, 2013; Fla. DEP Sept. 16, 2013). 

305. Petitioner Halloran has demonstrated his standing to 

challenge the Permit at Issue in this proceeding. 

306. However, Petitioner Last Stand has not demonstrated its 

standing to challenge the Permit at Issue. Specifically, Last 

Stand did not present evidence showing that a substantial number 

of its members' substantial interests potentially could be injured 

by the Project. The stipulated facts regarding Last Stand's 
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members dealt with potential impacts to their interests in the use 

and enjoyment of natural and economic resources in Monroe County 

and the Florida Keys, but Last Stand did not present any evidence 

showing, or aimed at showing, that the Project may impact natural 

or economic resources on such a broad scale. Rather, Last Stand's 

evidence specifically focused on potential impacts to natural 

resources in the vicinity of Stock Island. However, it failed to 

present any evidence showing that a substantial number of its 

members have substantial interests in those resources that could 

be injured as a result of the Project. Thus, Last Stand failed to 

meet the requirement, established in Florida Home Builders 

Association v. Department of Labor and Employment Security, 412 

So. 2d 351 (Fla. 1982), to demonstrate that a substantial number 

of its members' substantial interests may be affected by the 

proposed agency action. 571 Accordingly, Last Stand has not shown 

that it has standing to participate as a party to this 

proceeding. 581 

II. Burden and Standard of Proof 

307. This is a de novo proceeding intended to formulate 

final agency action, not review action taken earlier and 

preliminarily. See Young v. Dep't of Cmty. Aff., 625 So. 2d 831, 

833 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); Fla. Dep't of Transp. V. J.W.C. Co., 396 

So. 2d 778, 785 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). Therefore, new information 

94 



regarding the Permit at Issue may be admitted into evidence and 

considered in this proceeding. 

308. The Permit at Issue is issued pursuant to chapter 403. 

Accordingly, section 120.569(2) (p) governs the order of procedure 

and the parties' respective burdens in this case. Section 

120.569(2) (p) provides in pertinent part: 

309. 

(p) For any proceeding arising under 
chapter 373, chapter 378, or chapter 403, if a 
nonapplicant petitions as a third party to 
challenge an agency's issuance of a license, 
permit, or conceptual approval, the order of 
presentation in the proceeding is for the 
permit applicant to present a prima facie case 
demonstrating entitlement to the license, 
permit, or conceptual approval, followed by 
the agency. This demonstration may be made by 
entering into evidence the application and 
relevant material submitted to the agency in 
support of the application, and the agency's 
staff report or notice of intent to approve 
the permit, license, or conceptual approval. 
Subsequent to the presentation of the 
applicant's prima facie case and any direct 
evidence submitted by the agency, the 
petitioner initiating the action challenging 
the issuance of the license, permit, or 
conceptual approval has the burden of ultimate 
persuasion and has the burden of going forward 
to prove the case in opposition to the 
license, permit, or conceptual approval 
through the presentation of competent and 
substantial evidence. The permit applicant 
and agency may on rebuttal present any 
evidence relevant to demonstrating that the 
application meets the conditions for issuance. 

Pursuant to this provision, KWRU had the initial burden 

of going forward to demonstrate its prima facie case. KWRU 

satisfied its burden to establish prima facie entitlement to the 
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Permit at Issue by the admission into evidence of the applications 

for the Permit at Issue, information submitted to DEP in support 

of the applications, and DEP's Notice of Intent. As previously 

noted, KWRU and DEP presented credible testimony and other 

persuasive evidence in support of KWRU's case establishing its 

prima facie entitlement to the Permit at Issue. 

310. Pursuant to section 120.569(2) (p), the permit 

applications and supporting material KWRU submitted to DEP 

establishing reasonable assurance retained their status as 

satisfactory to show reasonable assurance when admitted into 

evidence at the final hearing. They did not lose that status 

absent Petitioners proving, by a preponderance of the competent 

substantial evidence, that specific aspects of the Project, as 

challenged in the petition for hearing, do not meet the reasonable 

assurance standard, so that KWRU is not entitled to issuance of 

the Permit at Issue. See Last Stand, Inc. v. Fury Mgmt. & Dep't 

of Envtl. Prot., Case No. 12-2574 (Fla. DOAH Dec. 21, 2012; Fla. 

DEP Feb. 7, 2013). 

311. Thus, once KWRU demonstrated its prima facie case 

entitlement to the Permit at Issue, the burden shifted to 

Petitioners to prove their case in opposition. Under section 

120.569(2) (p), the ultimate burden of persuasion rests with 

Petitioners to prove their case in opposition by a preponderance 

of the competent substantial evidence. Speculation about what 
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"might" occur is not sufficient to satisfy Petitioners' burden to 

show, by a preponderance of the evidence, that KWRU did not 

provide reasonable assurance regarding the grounds on which the 

Permit at Issue has been challenged. See Jacobs v. Far Niete II, 

LLC, Case No. 12-1056 (Fla. DOAH Apr. 26, 2013; SFWMD May 22, 

2013); FINR II, Inc. v. CF Indus., Inc., Case No. 11-6495 (Fla. 

DOAH Apr. 30, 2012; Fla. DEP June 8, 2012); see also Menorah 

Manor, Inc. v. Ag. for Health Care Admin., 908 So. 2d 1100, 1104 

(Fla. 1st DCA 2005). Petitioners' failure to meet this burden 

would mean that KWRU prevails in this proceeding. See Fury Mgmt.; 

see Washington Cnty. v. Bay Cnty. & Nw. Water Mgmt. Dist., Case 

Nos. 10-2983, 10-1984 and 10-10100 (Fla. DOAH July 26, 2012; 

NWFWMD Sept. 27, 2012). 

III. Applicable Statutory and Rule Requirements and Standards 

Section 403.086(10), Florida Statutes 

312. As discussed above, the Project at issue in this 

proceeding proposes to expand an existing domestic wastewater 

treatment facility in Monroe County, Florida, to a design capacity 

and permitted capacity of .849 MGD AADF. As part of the 

modification of the Existing Wastewater Facility, two new 

injection wells will be added, increasing the permitted capacity 

of the injection well system at the Facility to .998 MGD. 
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313. Section 403.086(10) provides in pertinent part: 

[T]he requirements of this subsection apply to 
all domestic wastewater facilities in Monroe 
County, including privately owned facilities, 
unless otherwise provided under this 
subsection. 

(a) The discharge of domestic wastewater into 
surface waters is prohibited. 

* * * 

(c) After December 31, 2015, all new or 
expanded domestic wastewater discharges must 
comply with the treatment and disposal 
requirements of this subsection and department 
rules. 

{d) Wastewater treatment facilities having 
design capacities: 

1. Greater than or equal to 100,000 gallons 
per day must provide basic disinfection as 
defined by department rule and the level of 
treatment which, on a permitted annual average 
basis, produces an effluent that contains no 
more than the following concentrations: 

a. Biochemical Oxygen Demand (CBOD5) of 
5 mg/1. 

b. Suspended Solids of 5 mg/1. 

c. Total Nitrogen, expressed as N, of 3 mg/1. 

d. Total Phosphorus, expressed as P, of 
1 mg/1. 

* * * 

(e) Class V injection wells, as defined by 
department or Department of Health rule, must 
meet the following requirements and otherwise 
comply with department or Department of Health 
rules, as applicable: 
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1. If the design capacity of the facility is 
less than 1 million gallons per day, the 
injection well must be at least 90 feet deep 
and cased to a minimum depth of 60 feet or to 
such greater cased depth and total well depth 
as may be required by department rule. 

2. Except as provided in subparagraph 3. for 
backup wells, if the design capacity of the 
facility is equal to or greater than 1 million 
gallons per day, each primary injection well 
must be cased to a minimum depth of 2,000 feet 
or to such greater depth as may be required by 
department rule. 

* * * 

(h) If it is demonstrated that a discharge, 
even if the discharge is otherwise in 
compliance with this subsection, will cause or 
contribute to a violation of state water 
quality standards, the department shall: 

1. Require more stringent effluent 
limitations; 

2. Order the point or method of discharge 
changed; 

3. Limit the duration or volume of the 
discharge; or 

4. Prohibit the discharge. 

314. Based on the foregoing findings of fact, it is 

concluded that the Project fully complies with the applicable 

provisions of section 403.086(10). 

315. First, as discussed above, to the extent there may be a 

connection between ground water and surface waters such that the 

effluent ultimately reaches surface waters, this is not considered 

99 



a "discharge" to surface waters under rule 62-620.200(13). 

rule states in pertinent part: 

'Discharge of a pollutant' means any addition 
of any pollutant or combination of pollutants 

. to waters from any point source . 
This definition includes additions of 
pollutants into waters from surface runoff 
which is collected or channeled by man, and 
discharges through pipes, sewers, or other 
conveyances which do not lead to a treatment 
works. This term does not include an addition 
of pollutants by any indirect discharger. 

Fla. Admin. CodeR. 62-620.200(13) (emphasis added). 

That 

316. The salient facts in Port Antigua Townhouse Ass'n, 

Inc. v. Seanic Corp., Case No. 00-0137 (Fla. DOAH Nov. 13, 2000; 

Fla. DEP Dec. 21, 2000), are similar to those in this proceeding. 

In that case, challengers to issuance of a Class V injection well 

permit to inject domestic wastewater into Class G-III groundwater 

argued that that discharge of this effluent into underground 

injection wells would result in a rapid discharge to surface 

waters shortly after the discharge is released into the wells, 

thus constituting a discharge of effluent into surface waters of 

the state in violation of various statutes and rules. DEP 

expressly rejected that argument, recognizing that DEP's 

wastewater permitting facility rule, chapter 62-620, expressly 

excludes from the definition of "discharge of a pollutant'' the 

addition of pollutants to waters by any indirect discharger. DEP 

determined that "discharges of wastewater effluent into Class G-
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III ground water through underground injection wells do not 

constitute 'discharges into surface waters' under chapter 62-302 

or 62-600, Florida Administrative Code." Id. at p. 11. 

317. Pursuant to this authority, any claim that issuance of 

the Permit at Issue violates section 403. 08 6 ( 10) (a) is 

rejected. 591 

318. Additionally, the evidence clearly establishes that the 

effluent discharged by the Project will meet the AWT standards, as 

required by subsubsections (c) and (d) of the statute. Further, 

the evidence establishes that under the plain terms of the 

Existing Permit, the Existing Wastewater Facility is not required 

to meet AWT standards before January 1, 2016. 

319. Further, as discussed in detail above, the design 

capacity of the Expanded Wastewater Facility will not be equal to 

or 1 MGD, so KWRU is not required to install deep injection wells 

cased to a minimum depth of 2,000 feet. Rule 62-600.200(19) 

defines "design capacity" as the "average daily flow for the 

projected design year which serves as the basis for the sizing and 

design of the wastewater facilities." Here, the persuasive 

evidence shows that the proposed .849 MGD AADF design capacity of 

the Expanded Wastewater Facility was established by KWRU based on 

historical wastewater flow data, in conformance with the Ten 

States Standards, and that AADF is the appropriate temporal flow 

metric for the design capacity, based on projected lack of 
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seasonal flow to the Expanded Wastewater Facility. Accordingly, 

the Project fully complies with the requirements of section 

403.086(10) (g), and a deep injection well is not required for the 

Project. 

320. Petitioners contend that subsubsection {h) of 

section 403.086(10) imposes an affirmative obligation on every 

applicant for a permit for a domestic wastewater facility located 

in Monroe County to show that its provisions are met, rather than 

instead being triggered only if and when it is shown that a 

discharge that is otherwise in compliance with subsection (10) 

would cause or contribute to a violation of state water quality 

standards. Petitioners cite no case law or other authority to 

support their interpretation. 

321. Petitioners' interpretation is rejected as contrary to 

the plain language of the statute. Subsubsection (h) states "[i]f 

it is demonstrated that a discharge . will cause or contribute 

to a violation of state water quality standards . " and then 

sets forth four alternatives available to DEP regarding the 

operation of the facility. It is abundantly clear that DEP must 

consider these alternatives only "if it is demonstrated'' that a 

discharge will violate water quality standards. Accordingly, this 

provision does not impose an affirmative permitting obligation, 

but, rather, is triggered if it is shown that a permitted 
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discharge causes or contributes to water quality standard 

violations. 

322. Furthermore, the credible, persuasive evidence 

establishes that in any event, the effluent discharged through the 

injection wells will not cause or contribute to a violation of 

surface water quality or ground water standards. 

323. Accordingly, it is concluded that the Project fully 

complies with section 403.086(10). 

Chapter 62-600 

324. Chapter 62-600 establishes the design and operation 

standards applicable to domestic wastewater treatment facilities 

in Florida. 

325. As discussed above, Petitioners have challenged the 

proposed design capacity of the Expanded Wastewater Facility as 

not being correctly determined under rule 62-600.200(19). 

326. For the reasons discussed in detail above, it is 

concluded that the proposed design capacity of .849 MGD AADF for 

the Expanded Wastewater Facility fully conforms to the terms of 

rule 62-600.200(19), the Ten States Standards, and all other 

applicable standards and requirements in chapter 62-600. 

327. Petitioners also claim that pursuant to rule 62-

600.405, KRWU was required, and failed, to submit a capacity 

analysis report regarding the proposed capacity of the Expanded 

Wastewater Facility. This rule states in pertinent part: 
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(3) When the three-month average daily flow 
for the most recent three consecutive months 
exceeds 50 percent of the permitted capacity 
of the treatment plant or reuse and disposal 
systems, the permittee shall submit to the 
Department a capacity analysis report. 

(4} The initial capacity analysis report 
shall be submitted according to the following: 

(a) For new or expanded wastewater facilities 
for which the Department received a complete 
construction permit application after July 1, 
1991, the initial capacity analysis report 
shall be submitted within 180 days after the 
last day of the last month in the three-month 
period referenced in subsection 62-600.405(3), 
F.A.C. 

(b) For wastewater facilities for which the 
Department received a complete construction 
permit application on or before July 1, 1991, 
the initial capacity analysis report shall be 
submitted when the next application for a 
permit to construct or operate wastewater 
facilities is submitted to the Department 
unless: 

1. The three-month average daily flow for any 
three consecutive months during the period 
July 1, 1990 to June 30, 1991 exceeds 90 
percent of the permitted capacity. In such 
cases, the initial capacity analysis report 
shall be submitted to the Department no later 
than January 1, 1992. 

2. The three-month average daily flow for 
any three consecutive months during the 
period July 1, 1990 to June 30, 1991 exceeds 
75 percent of the permitted capacity. In such 
cases, the initial capacity analysis report 
shall be submitted to the Department no later 
than July 1, 1992. 

(c) In no case shall the initial capacity 
analysis report be required to be submitted 
before July 1, 1991 or before the three-month 
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average daily flow exceeds 50 percent of the 
permitted capacity of the treatment plant or 
reuse or disposal systems, as described in 
subsection 62-600.405(3), F.A.C. 

(5) The permittee shall submit updated 
capacity analysis reports to the Department 
according to the following: 

(a) If the initial capacity analysis report 
or an update of the capacity analysis report 
documents that the permitted capacity will not 
be equaled or exceeded for at least 10 years, 
an updated capacity analysis report shall be 
submitted to the Department at five-year 
intervals or at each time the permittee 
applies for an operation permit or renewal of 
an operation permit, whichever occurs first. 

(b) If the initial capacity analysis report 
or an update of the capacity analysis report 
documents that the permitted capacity will be 
equaled or exceeded within the next 10 years, 
an updated capacity analysis shall be 
submitted to the Department annually. 

328. For the reasons discussed above, it is concluded that 

KWRU was not required to submit a capacity analysis report as part 

of the applications for the Permit at Issue. Accordingly, lack of 

a capacity analysis report as part of the applications is not a 

basis on which to deny the Permit at Issue. 

Chapter 62-610 

329. Petitioners allege that the increased permitted 

capacity of the reuse system constitutes a "new or expanded reuse 

or land application project," so that an engineering report and 

reuse feasibility study were required as part of the applications 
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for the Permit at Issue, pursuant to rule 62-610.310(1). This 

rule provides: 

(1) In accordance with the requirements and 
provisions of Chapters 62-600 and 62-620, 
F.A.C., an engineering report shall be 
submitted in support of permit applications 
for new or expanded reuse or land application 
projects. The engineering report will serve 
as the preliminary design report for reuse 
and land application projects. The 
requirement for an engineering report for 
modifications of existing systems and for 
those existing facilities which have had past 
violations of permit conditions or water 
quality standards shall be a case-by-case 
determination by the Department based on the 
frequency and severity of past violations, 
the potential for adverse effects on 
reclaimed water quality and on surface and 
ground water quality, and the scope of 
proposed modifications. 

330. As discussed at length above, the reuse system 

previously was permitted for 1 MGD capacity, and that is not 

being expanded by the Permit at Issue. Moreover, the amount of 

reclaimed water reused as irrigation is not being increased. 

Therefore, an engineering report and reuse feasibility study are 

not required for the Project. 

331. Petitioners also allege that KWRU did not provide 

reasonable assurance that the provision of reclaimed water from 

the Expanded Wastewater Facility to the golf course will 

constitute a beneficial use rather than disposal, inconsistent 

with rule 62-610.810. 
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332. Rule 62-610.810 provides in pertinent part: 

333. 

(1) This section contains the criteria to be 
used by the Department in classifying projects 
or portions of projects as "reuse" or 
"effluent disposal." 

(2) Reuse projects. The following shall be 
classified as "reuse:" 

* * * 

(b) Projects permitted under Part III of 
Chapter 62-610, F.A.C. 

Part III of chapter 62-610 governs slow-rate land 

application systems. Rule 62-610.450 expressly includes golf 

courses as a type of reuse system regulated under Part III. 

Accordingly, the provision of reclaimed water for golf course 

irrigation complies with rule 62-610.810. 

334. Petitioners' real dispute regarding the reclaimed water 

reuse system is grounded in the quantity of water--1 MGD--they 

perceive as being sent to the golf course on a daily basis. As 

discussed above, Petitioners contend that since the golf course 

irrigation only accounts for 300,000 gallons per day, 700,000 of 

the reclaimed water will be disposed of. As discussed in detail 

above, Petitioners' contention is based on a fundamental 

misunderstanding of the reuse system capacity--which is already 

authorized in the Existing Permit and is not being changed in the 

Permit at Issue--and of the structure and operation of the reuse 

system. 
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335. For the reasons discussed above, it is concluded that 

the reclaimed water reuse system meets all applicable requirements 

of chapter 62-610. 

Rule 62-620.320 

336. Petitioners contend that KWRU did not affirmatively 

provide DEP with reasonable assurance pursuant to rule 62-

620.320(1). That rule states: 

(1) A permit shall be issued only if the 
applicant affirmatively provides the 
Department with reasonable assurance, based on 
a preliminary design report, plans, test 
results, installation of pollution control 
equipment, or other information, that the 
construction, modification, or operation of 
the wastewater facility or activity will not 
discharge or cause pollution in contravention 
of Chapter 403, F.S., and applicable 
Department rules. 

337. For the reasons discussed above, it is concluded that 

KWRU provided all required information in its applications, and 

that that information provided reasonable assurance· that the 

Project will not discharge or cause pollution in contravention of 

chapter 403 and applicable DEP rules. 

Chapter 62-302 and Rule 62-4.242 

338. Petitioners contend that the discharge of effluent 

through the injection wells authorized by the Permit at Issue 

will cause or contribute to a violation of surface water quality 

standards for nutrients in rules 62-302.530(47) (a) and (b) and 
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rules 62-302.532(1) (g)l. and 3., and the surface water quality 

"free-from" standards in rules 62-302.500 and 62-302.530(61). 

339. Petitioners also allege that the reclaimed water sent 

to and stored in the golf course ponds for reuse as irrigation 

will run off into surface waters or seep through the ground 

water, causing or contributing to violations of surface water 

quality. 

340. Petitioners allege that as a result of these 

violations, the discharge of the effluent through the injection 

wells also will violate the antidegradation provisions of 

rules 62-4.242, 62-302.300, and 62-302.700(1). 

341. For the reasons discussed in substantial detail above, 

it is concluded that KWRU provided reasonable assurance that the 

discharge of the effluent through the injection wells will not 

violate applicable surface water quality standards for nutrients 

in rules 62-302.500(47) (a) and (b) and 62-302.532(1) (g)l. and 3. 

and will not violate the surface water quality "free-from" 

standards in rules 62-302.500 and 62-302.530(61). 

342. Also as discussed in substantial detail above, it is 

concluded that under any circumstances, the discharge of effluent 

through the injection wells does not constitute a discharge to 

surface waters. See Fla. Admin. CodeR. 62-620.200(13); Port 

Antigua Townhouse Ass'n, Inc. 
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343. Accordingly, the antidegradation provisions in 

rules 62-4.242, 62-302.300, and 62-302.700(1), which apply to 

discharges to surface waters, are not applicable to the discharge 

of effluent through the injection wells authorized by the Permit 

at Issue. 601 

344. Additionally, for the reasons discussed in detail 

above, it is concluded that the reuse and storage of reclaimed 

water for irrigation at the Key West Golf Club golf course, as 

proposed by the Project, will not cause or contribute to 

violations of surface water quality standards. Thus, it is 

further concluded that the use of the reclaimed water storage 

ponds as authorized in the Permit at Issue does not violate 

rule 62-4. 030. 611 

345. Based on the foregoing, it is concluded that 

Petitioners did not meet their burden regarding the alleged 

violations of surface water quality standards as a result of the 

Project. 

Rule 62-528.630(7) 

346. Petitioners allege that the discharge of effluent 

through the injection wells authorized by the Permit at Issue 

will violate rule 62-528.630(7), which provides: 

All Class V Group 3 wells designed to inject 
domestic wastewater in Monroe County shall be 
required as part of the operation permit 
application to provide reasonable assurance 
that operation of the well will not cause or 
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contribute to a violation of surface water 
standards as defined in Chapter 62-302, 
F.A.C. 

347. For the reasons discussed in substantial detail above, 

KWRU provided reasonable assurance that operation of the 

injection wells authorized by the Permit at Issue will not cause 

or contribute to a violation of surface water quality standards, 

in compliance with rule 62-528.630(7). 

Chapter 62-520 

348. Chapter 62-520 establishes the classifications and 

standards applicable to ground water and discharges to ground 

water in Florida. 

349. As discussed above, the persuasive evidence presented 

in this proceeding did not establish the existence of a drinking 

water aquifer to which Class G-Il ground water standards would 

apply. 

350. The ground water into which the effluent will be 

discharged is classified as Class G-III, so the ground water 

quality "free from" standards in rule 62-520.400 apply. Fla. 

Admin. CodeR. 62-520.430(1). 

351. As discussed above, the evidence shows that the 

discharge of the effluent through the injection wells will not 

violate the ground water quality ''free from" standards codified 

at rule 62-520.400. 
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IV. Entitlement to Issuance of Permit at Issue 

352. To be entitled to issuance of the Permit at Issue, 

KWRU was required to provide DEP with reasonable assurance, based 

on the information submitted in the applications and supporting 

documentation, that the Project will not discharge, emit, or 

cause pollution in contravention of DEP rules or standards. See 

Fla. Admin. CodeR. 62-4.070(2). 

353. The "reasonable assurance" standard required KWRU to 

demonstrate the "substantial likelihood'' that the project would 

not discharge, emit, or cause pollution in contravention of DEP 

rules. Reasonable assurance does not require absolute guarantees 

that the project will not cause pollution under any 

circumstances. See Save Anna Maria, Inc. v. Dep't of Transp., 

700 So. 2d 113, 117 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997); see also Metropolitan 

Dade Cnty. v. Coscan Fla., Inc., 609 So. 2d 644, 648 (Fla. 3d DCA 

1992); McCormick v. City of Jacksonville, Case No. 88-2283 (Fla. 

DOAH Oct. 16, 1989; Fla. DER Jan. 22, 1990). KWRU was not, and 

is not, required to eliminate all contrary possibilities, however 

remote, or to address impacts that are only theoretical or not 

reasonably likely. See Crystal Springs Recreational Pres., Inc. 

v. Sw. Fla. Water Mgmt. Dist., Case No. 99-1415 (Fla. DOAH 

Jan. 27, 2000; SWFWMD Feb. 29, 2000); Alafia River Basins 

Stewardship Council, Inc. v. Sw. Fla. Water Mgmt. Dist., Case 
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Nos. 98-4925, 98-4926, 98-4930, 98-4931 (Fla. DOAH July 2, 1999; 

SWFWMD Aug. 2, 1999). 

354. As discussed above, DEP reasonably and correctly 

determined, based on the permit applications and supporting 

information, that KWRU provided reasonable assurance that the 

Project, as proposed, would meet all applicable statutory and 

rule requirements. Accordingly, DEP issued the Notice of Intent 

to Issue the Permit at Issue. 

355. Also as previously discussed, at the final hearing, 

KWRU, with evidentiary support from DEP, satisfied its burden 

under section 120.569(2) (p) to establish prima facie entitlement 

to the Permit at Issue. 

356. The burden then shifted to Petitioners to prove their 

case in opposition and to demonstrate, by a preponderance of the 

competent substantial evidence, that KWRU did not provide 

reasonable assurance that it is entitled to the Permit at Issue. 

357. Petitioners alleged numerous grounds that they alleged 

require denial of the Permit at Issue. For the reasons discussed 

above, Petitioners did not prove, on the grounds they raised in 

the Second Amended Verified Petition for Formal Administrative 

Hearing, that the Project, as designed, would not comply with or 

would violate section 403.086(10) and applicable DEP rules. As 

such, Petitioners failed to meet their burden of ultimate 

persuasion in this proceeding. 
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----------------------------------------------------

358. KWRU has demonstrated that the Project meets all 

applicable permitting standards and requirements, including those 

established in section 403.086(10) and applicable DEP rules. 

359. Therefore, KWRU is entitled to issuance of the Permit 

at Issue. 

V. Sanctions 

360. Petitioners and KWRU each have moved for an award of 

attorney's fees and costs associated with litigating this matter. 

These requests have been denied in a separate Order on Motions for 

Attorney's Fees and Sanctions ("Sanctions Order"). 

361. KWRU also moved for an award of sanctions consisting of 

attorney's fees incurred in filing a Motion to Compel, which was 

granted. As explained in the Sanctions Order, this motion is 

granted, and the Division of Administrative Hearings retains 

jurisdiction solely over this issue, in the event an evidentiary 

hearing on the amount to be awarded becomes necessary. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law, it is RECOMMENDED that the Department of Environmental 

Protection enter a final order approving the issuance of Domestic 

Wastewater Facility Permit FLA014951-012-DWIP and UIC Permits 

18490-020 and 18490-021. 
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DONE AND ENTERED this 15th day of January, 2016, in 

Tallahassee, Leon County, Florida. 

1/ 

CATHY M. SELLERS 
Administrative Law Judge 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
The DeSoto Building 
1230 Apalachee Parkway 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-3060 
(850) 488-9675 
Fax Filing (850) 921-6847 
www.doah.state.fl.us 

Filed with the Clerk of the 
Division of Administrative Hearings 
this 15th day of January, 2016. 

ENDNOTES 

All references are to the 2015 version of the Florida 
Statutes, unless otherwise stated. 

21 See the description of the Existing Wastewater Facility in 
paragraph 13. 

31 References to the "Existing Wastewater Facility" are 
collectively to the existing wastewater treatment plant, the 
existing reclaimed water reuse system, and the existing two-well 
underground injection well system, all of which are permitted 
under the Existing Permit. The Existing Permit was issued in 2012 
as a renewal of a previously-issued permit authorizing 
construction and operation of the Existing Wastewater Facility. 
The Existing Permit did not expand the design or permitted 
capacities for the Existing Wastewater Facility. 

41 Under the Existing Permit, reclaimed water is sent on a 
priority basis to the Key West Golf Club for reuse as irrigation 
water. If there is no remaining storage capacity in the golf 
course ponds or the course does not need reclaimed water at a 
particular time, the reclaimed water is then provided as needed in 
specified quantities to the Monroe County Detention Facility, the 
Lower Keys Medical Center, and the Florida Keys Community College. 
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51 Pursuant to DEP rule, the "design capacity" is the average 
daily flow projected for the design year which serves as the basis 
for the sizing and design of the wastewater facilities. Fla. 
Admin. CodeR. 62-600.200(19). Also per DEP rule, the "permitted 
capacity" is the treatment capacity for which a plant is approved 
by permit and is expressed in MGD units and specifying the 
associated timeframe. Fla. Admin. Code R. 62-600.200(62). These 
capacities and their relationship to the facilities at issue in 
this proceeding are discussed in greater detail below. 

61 As addressed in greater detail below, it is disputed whether 
the reuse storage ponds ultimately discharge into surface waters. 

71 The reclaimed water system, which provides reclaimed water for 
reuse for golf course irrigation, is the primary means by which 
the treated wastewater is removed from the Wastewater Facility 
site. 

81 "Effluent" is defined in rule 62-600.200(27) as "water that is 
not reused after flowing out of any wastewater treatment facility 
or other works used for the purpose of treating, stabilizing, or 
holding wastes." All references to "effluent" in this Recommended 
Order referred to treated wastewater that is disposed of down the 
permitted injection wells. 

91 The Miami Limestone extends from the ground surface or 
immediately below the surface to a depth of between 20 and 30 
feet, where it is underlain by the Key Largo Limestone. 

101 Although the expansion to the Facility proposed at this time 
would result in the plant having a design capacity of .849 MGD 
AADF, KWRU proposes to expand the underground injection wells' 
design capacity to .998 MGD AADF in the event it were to begin 
receiving wastewater flows from the Navy weather station and 
needed additional injection well disposal capacity. Presumably, 
if an expansion to the treatment capacity were needed to 
accommodate and treat this flow, KWRU would be required to apply 
to expand the capacity of the plant. 

111 Rule 62-600.200(19) states that the design capacity is 
established by the permit applicant, and the timeframe to which 
design capacity is keyed also is specified by the applicant. 

121 In Castle's professional judgment, a consistent 15 percent 
variation in flow over a three-month period would be significant; 
he observed a maximum of 12 percent variation in flow over this 
timeframe. Additionally, the variations in flow did not 
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correspond to high use periods in the Florida Keys, causing Castle 
to conclude that variations in flow were not related to tourist 
season in the Keys. 

131 Although DEP staff recognized that the Florida Keys generally 
do experience seasonal residential occupancy, the persuasive 
evidence establishes that Stock Island specifically has not 
experienced such historic seasonal occupancy because it is largely 
populated by persons who reside there year-round. 

141 Section 403.086 ( 10) (d) establishes treatment requirements 
specific to wastewater treatment facilities having design 
capacities equal to or greater than 100,000 gallons per day on an 
annual average basis, and to wastewater treatment facilities 
having a design capacity of less than 100,000 gallons per day on 
an annual average basis. The plain language of the statute makes 
clear that the design capacity refers to capacity measured on an 
annual average basis, rather than on a peak hourly basis. 

151 Accordingly, to the extent Petitioners allege that DEP's 
reliance on the certifying engineer's design is per se 
insufficient or contrary to law, that claim is rejected. 

161 The Second Amended Verified Petition for Formal Administrative 
Hearing, Request for Mediation, and Motion to Intervene, filed by 
Petitioners on December 29, 2014, is the operative document 
challenging the Permit at Issue in this proceeding. 

171 Rule 62-600.405(3) states: "[w]hen the three-month average 
daily flow for the most recent three consecutive months exceeds 
50 percent of the capacity of the treatment plant or reuse and 
disposal systems, the permittee shall submit to the Department a 
capacity analysis report." 

181 The April 2012 CAR evaluated projected capacity needs based on 
historic development and wastewater facility connection trends for 
the years 2008 through 2010. This period corresponded with a 
major economic recession, so there was very little, if any, new 
development occurring and almost no new wastewater facility 
connections to the facility occurred during that time. 

19/ Rule 62-600.405(5) states in pertinent part: 

(5) The permittee shall submit updated 
capacity analysis reports to the Department 
according to the following: 
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(a) If the initial capacity analysis report 
or an update of the capacity analysis report 
documents that the permitted capacity will 
not be equaled or exceeded for at least 10 
years, an updated capacity analysis report 
shall be submitted to the Department at five­
year intervals or at each time the permittee 
applies for an operation permit or renewal of 
an operation permit, whichever occurs first. 

(b) If the initial capacity analysis report 
or an update of the capacity analysis report 
documents that the permitted capacity will be 
equaled or exceeded within the next 10 years, 
an updated capacity analysis shall be 
submitted to the Department annually. 

201 KWRU's service area consists of Stock Island, where 
undeveloped land is scarce. Given the scarcity of land in KWRU's 
service area, Castle's estimation that the service out will be 
built out by 2020 is reasonable. 

211 Castle testified that the allowable maximum density for these 
parcels pursuant to the Monroe County Land Development Regulations 
is two to 18 units per acre, and that 12 units per acre was chosen 
as an approximation of the level of development that may occur on 
the parcels. The total acreage, not just the developable acreage, 
was utilized in Castle's calculations. 

221 These incremental flow increases were, respectively, ten 
percent for year 2016, five percent for year 2017, two-and-one­
half percent for year 2018, and one-half percent for year 2019. 

231 Castle testified, persuasively, that in his opinion, actual 
flow data are more representative of water use in the Florida 
Keys, where significant water conservation measures are 
implemented, than are flows estimated using DOH Table I, which 
estimates worst-case flows applicable to onsite systems. 
According to Castle, DOH Table I is better suited for estimating 
flows in areas lacking aggressive water conservation measures. 

241 The flows from Key West Harbor Yacht Club would constitute an 
additional 16,775 gallons per day (.016775 MGD) of flow into the 
facility. Castle built in a 15-percent "safety factor"-which 
amounts to approximately 100,000 gallons per day additional 
capacity-on top of the projected flows from the named 
developments. The additional capacity due to the "safety factor" 
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more than compensates for the flows from the Key West Harbor Yacht 
Club. 

251 The 16-percent variability in 2014 flows may be an aberration. 
Had Lynch used historical flow data dating back over a few years, 
in addition to the 2014 data, his opinion may have been given more 
weight. Petitioners did not present any evidence showing that 
2014 flows were representative of historic or future flows to the 
Expanded Wastewater Facility. 

261 The permit application lists 1 MGD as the "capacity" of the 
reuse system. This quantity represents an approximate depth of 
two feet of water storage capacity in the golf course ponds. The 
volume of the storage ponds is not being changed by the Permit at 
Issue. 

271 Rule 62-610.200 (52), in pertinent part, defines "reuse" as 
the "deliberate application of reclaimed water . . for a 
beneficial purpose." Rule 62-610.810(2) provides that "reuse" 
includes projects permitted under chapter 62-610, Part III. 
Pursuant to that part, golf course irrigation is considered a 
beneficial use. 

28/ Nutrient influx to and content of surface waters tends to be 
skewed, so the numeric interpretations of the narrative nutrient 
criterion are expressed as annual geometric means calculated 
across all samples collected for the particular water body for a 
year. The geometric mean more accurately reflects the central 
tendencies of the data set generated by the sampling. Rule 62-
302.531(6) establishes a sampling method to accurately calculate a 
geographic mean for purposes of determining compliance with the 
NNCs. Importantly, this method requires multiple samples to be 
taken over a period of a year, rather than determining compliance 
based on a single sample or on multiple samples taken only on one 
occasion. 

291 The Florida Keys Reasonable Assurance Plan was prepared in 
2008 and updated in 2011 (collectively, "Keys RAP"). DEP 
anticipates adopting NNCs for the Halo Zone that are consistent 
with the Keys RAP. Until site-specific NNCs are adopted by rule 
for the Halo Zone, the narrative nutrient criterion in rule 62-
302. 530 ( 4 7) (b) applies in this area. 

301 The Impaired Waters Rule, chapter 62-303, establishes a formal 
mechanism for identifying surface waters in Florida that are 
impaired. Most water bodies that are verified as being impaired 
by a pollutant will be listed on Florida's 303(d) list, pursuant 
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to the Florida Watershed Restoration Act ("FWRA") and Section 
303(d) of the federal Clean Water Act. Once listed, Total Maximum 
Daily Loads will be developed for the water body for the 
particular pollutants causing the impairment. However, before 
placing a water body on the state's 303(d) list, DEP evaluates 
whether existing or proposed pollution control measures will 
effectively address the impairment. If DEP can document that 
there is reasonable assurance that the impairment will effectively 
be addressed by the control measures, the water body will not be 
listed on the final verified list. 

311 WBIDs are assessed for impairment for individual water quality 
parameters and are then placed into one of five major assessment 
categories and subcategories. This enables the state to document 
attainment of applicable water quality standards, develop 
monitoring strategies for the specific parameters identified in 
the assessment, and ensure that the attainment status for each 
water quality standard applicable to a particular WBID is 
effectively addressed. 

321 WBIDs 8073A through 8073H are small beach WBIDs that have been 
designated specifically for purposes of monitoring compliance with 
beach water quality criteria. 

331 As of the date of the final hearing, the data collected in 
2014 had not yet been assessed and interpreted. 

341 On the original list of impaired waters prepared in 1998, the 
surface waters in the Florida Keys were listed as impaired for 
nutrients. In 2009, DEP placed the 23 Keys WBIDs in Category 4e, 
which means that for the WBID, the data show that one or more 
designated uses are not being attained, but that recently 
completed or ongoing restoration activities are expected to 
restore the designated uses such that the WBID meets its 
designated uses. 

351 The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency has determined that 
DEP provided sufficient justification to delist all of the Florida 
Keys WBIDs from the state's previous section 303(d) impaired 
waters list. 

361 Although there is some variability in the subsurface geology 
between the KWRU site and the FGS site, which is approximately 
1,800 feet (slightly over a third of a mile) south of the KWRU 
site, the evidence established that this variability is mostly 
related to subsurface elevation of specific features rather than 
whether or not such features exist at both sites. 
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371 The Q-layers, or Q-zones, were formed during the Quaternary 
Period, when global glaciation caused sea levels to drop. During 
these periods, windblown African dust was deposited on the exposed 
reef and mudflat surfaces. These surfaces became indurated, or 
hardened, forming confining layers that when buried by sediments 
during subsequent sea level fluctuations, function as aquitards. 

381 Zednek acknowledged that under any circumstances, the general 
consensus is that the effluent would first migrate horizontally 
before migrating vertically. 

391 Paul provided conflicting testimony regarding the results of 
the Saddlebunch Keys. On direct examination, he testified that 
the viruses appeared in surface waters approximately 1,400 meters 
from the injection location, and he did specify a timeframe. On 
cross-examination, he testified that the viruses appeared in 
surface waters approximately 58 hours after injection and 
approximately 3,500 meters from the injection site. 

401 Alfieri testified, persuasively, that in any event, the UES 
geotechnical report would not have depicted the existence of 
aquitards at the KWRU site because the purpose of the 
geotechnical analysis was to evaluate the site for load-bearing 
capacity--not to precisely identify and describe the specific 
geologic features, such as aquitards, underlying the site. 
Accordingly, the UES report has little value in precisely 
identifying and describing the geology at the KWRU site. 

411 Alfieri further noted that the crushed rock described in the 
UES Log likely resulted from the drilling technique used to 
determine the geotechnical integrity of the site for purposes of 
supporting a concrete water tank. In Alfieri's experience, there 
is very little crushed or fractured subsurface rock in the 
Florida Keys. 

421 This is well beyond the Halo Zone, which constitutes the 
first 500 meters (approximately 1,500 feet) offshore, and which 
is most ecologically sensitive to phosphorus enrichment. 

431 Of further note is that the interim report on the dye tracer 
study was performed at Cudjoe Key, which is approximately 
15 miles from the KWRU site. Petitioners presented no persuasive 
evidence showing that the geology at the Cudjoe Key site is 
comparable to that at the KWRU site. The best specific evidence 
regarding the subsurface geology on Stock Island, and, 
specifically, at the KWRU site, is the FGS Log. 
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441 Rule 62-302.530(47) (a) states, in pertinent part that: 
"[m]an-induced nutrient enrichment (total nitrogen or total 
phosphorus) shall be considered degradation in relation to the 
provisions of [r]ules 62-302.300, 62-302.700, and 62-2.242." 
Rule 62-302.530(47) (b) states: "[i]n no case shall nutrient 
concentrations of a body of water be altered so as to cause an 
imbalance in natural populations in flora and fauna." 

451 Fourqurean testified that due to rapid uptake, increases in 
phosphorus levels cannot be detected in the water column even 
30 feet from a large point-source discharge due to rapid 
absorption by benthic communities. 

461 In support of this opinion, Alfieri cited a study showing 
that in two or fewer days subsurface limestone absorbs--and, 
thus, removes from the water column--approximately 95 percent of 
injected phosphorous within five meters of the injection point. 
This study also found that approximately 65 percent of injected 
nitrogen was absorbed over a period of 3.5 days. 

471 He further acknowledged that an annual geometric mean, on 
which the numeric interpretations of the narrative nutrient 
criteria is based, cannot be ascertained from a single sampling 
event. 

481 Weaver testified as an expert in surface water quality, 
statistics, and aquatic ecology. He has been extensively 
involved in identification and delineation of the FKMNRs, 
development of the NNCs applicable to the FKMNRs, preparation and 
implementation of the 2008 SKARAD and the 2011 Update, and 
determining compliance with the applicable NNCs. 

49/ The NNCs for the FKMNRs were adopted by rule in 2012. 

501 These estimated net reduction levels are conservative because 
they assume all treated wastewater will be disposed of as effluent 
down the injection wells. However, as previously discussed, a 
substantial portion of the treated wastewater from the Expanded 
Wastewater Facility will constitute reclaimed water that is reused 
as irrigation by the Key West Golf Club golf course. 

511 Petitioners allege that KWRU has violated rule 62-
302.500(1) (c) by not having applied and been authorized for use 
of a mixing zone for discharge of the effluent to meet surface 
water quality standards. This rule citation appears to be in 
error. Rule 62-302.500(1) (c) requires that all surface waters 
must be free from silver in concentrations above 2.3 micrograms 
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per liter in predominantly marine waters. However, Petitioners 
did not allege, or provide any evidence showing, that the 
effluent discharged through the injection wells will contain any 
silver, much less in concentrations above that stated in the 
rule. 

521 Underground drinking water sources are classified in rule 62-
520.410(1) as F-I, G-I, or G-II, depending on their total 
dissolved solids concentration. 

531 There is no evidence showing that the components of the 
wastewater inflow to the Expanded Wastewater Facility will be 
different than those in the wastewater inflow to the Existing 
Wastewater Facility--except that the effluent discharged from the 
Expanded Wastewater Facility will be lower in concentration for 
nitrogen; phosphorus, and other specified components. After 
decades of testing never showed ground water violations due to the 
facility, DEP reasonably has allowed KWRU to discontinue ground 
water monitoring for the facility. 

541 Because years of ground water monitoring data for the reuse 
system ponds revealed no violations, DEP authorized 
discontinuation of this monitoring in 2012. Since the amount of 
reclaimed water being sent to the reuse storage ponds is not 
changing and the amount of nutrients in the reclaimed water is 
being reduced as a result of AWT, there is no basis for requiring 
KWRU to resume ground water monitoring for the ponds. 

551 Thus, it is determined that Halloran's review of the documents 
filed in this proceeding challenging the Permit at Issue were 
sufficient for purposes of informing him regarding the allegations 
in those documents. 

561 An organization is legally entitled to protect its membership 
lists from discovery in a legal proceeding. NAACP v. Alabama, 357 
U.S. 449 (1958). However, that protection does not relieve the 
entity of the requirement to establish its standing to participate 
as a party to that proceeding. See NRA of Am., Inc. v. City of 
Miami, 774 So. 2d 815, 816 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) (recognizing that an 
association whose membership lists are legally protected from 
discovery still must show standing to sue) . 

571 In Florida Home Builders Association, the Florida Supreme 
Court articulated the associational standing test applicable to 
administrative proceedings in Florida. That test, which has 
subsequently has been refined and applied by courts in the context 
of proceedings under section 120.57 requires an association to 
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show: that a substantial number (although not necessarily a 
majority) of its members' substantial interests are or may be 
injured by the proposed agency action; the subject matter of the 
proceeding must be within the association's general scope of 
interest and activity; and the relief requested must be of the 
type appropriate for the association to receive on behalf of its 
members. See Friends of the Everglades v. Bd. of Tr., 595 So. 2d 
186 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). 

58/ "Party" is defined, in pertinent part, to mean: 

(b) Any other person who, as a matter of 
constitutional right, provision of statute, or 
provision of agency regulation, is entitled to 
participate in whole or in part in the 
proceeding, or whose substantial interests 
will be affected by proposed agency action, 
and who makes an appearance as a party. 

§ 120.52 (13) (b), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added). 

591 Petitioners argue that DEP misinterprets section 403.086(10) 
and rule 62-620.200. In support, Petitioners cite federal 
regulations defining "indirect discharger" at 40 C.F.R. 
section 122.2, part of the regulations implementing the National 
Pollutant Elimination Discharge System. This reliance is 
misplaced. Florida has adopted its own rules implementing its own 
pollution control statutes, including rules specifically governing 
the approval of domestic wastewater facilities. Accordingly, 
federal regulations may be applicable to permitting such 
facilities under Florida rules only to the extent they are 
specifically incorporated into Florida rules. Here, rule 62-
620.200(13) expressly incorporates only the federal definition of 
"pollutant"; it does not incorporate the definition of "indirect 
discharger," so that federal definition is not applicable to 
interpreting and applying rule 62-620.200(13). 

601 However, as discussed above, the credible, persuasive 
evidence shows that even if the effluent were discharged to 
surface waters, it would not cause or contribute to violations of 
surface water quality standards. 

611 Petitioners also contend that the golf course storage ponds 
constitute a "stationary installation," so that the use of the 
ponds for storage of reclaimed water, as authorized under the 
Permit at Issue, would violate rule 62-4.030, which provides: 
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Any stationary installation which will 
reasonably be expected to be a source of 
pollution shall not be operated, maintained, 
constructed, expanded, or modified without 
the appropriate and valid permits issued by 
the Department, unless the source is exempted 
by Department rule. The Department may issue 
a permit only after it receives reasonable 
assurance that the installation will not 
cause pollution in violation of any of the 
provisions of Chapter 403, F.S., or the rules 
promulgated thereunder. A permitted 
installation may only be operated, 
maintained, constructed, expanded or modified 
in a manner that is consistent with the terms 
of the permit. 
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(eServed) 

Lea Crandall, Agency Clerk 
Department of Environmental Protection 
Douglas Building, Mail Stop 35 
3900 Commonwealth Boulevard 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-3000 
(eServed) 
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Craig Varn, General Counsel 
Department of Environmental Protection 
Douglas Building, Mail Stop 35 
3900 Commonwealth Boulevard 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-3000 
(eServed) 

Jonathan P. Steverson, Secretary 
Department of Environmental Protection 
Douglas Building 
3900 Commonwealth Boulevard 
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-3000 
(eServed) 

NOTICE OF RIGHT TO SUBMIT EXCEPTIONS 

All parties have the right to submit written exceptions within 
15 days from the date of this Recommended Order. Any exceptions 
to this Recommended Order should be filed with the agency that 
will issue the Final Order in this case. 

126 




